COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 FEB 19 AM 10: 52
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY
DEPUTY

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 45177 8 II)

ROBERT GUNN, a single man,

Petitioner,

v.

FILED
FEB 2 0 2015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERRY L. RIELY and PETRA E. RIELY, husband and wife,

Respondent.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

By: W. JEFF DAVIS, WSBA#12246

Attorney for Petitioner

PO Box 510

Sequim, WA 98382

Telephone No.: (360) 683-1129

Fax No.: (360) 683-1258

Email: jeff@bellanddavispllc.com

### **

I.	Identity of Petitioner				
II.	Citation to Court of Appeals Decision				
III.	Issues Presented for Review				
IV.	Statement of the Case				
V.	Argument				
	A.	Issue of Substantial Public Interest	3-5		
	B.	The Decision Conflicts with Another Decision of the Court of Appeals	5-6		
	C.	The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Concluded that RCW 4.24.630(2) Precluded Damages, Costs and Attorney Fee under RCW 4.24.630(1)	6-12		
VI.	Concl	lusion	12-13		
VII.	Appendix				
	A.	Court of Appeals Decision			
	B.	RCW 4.24.630			
	C	RCW 64 12 030			

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

## A. CASES

<b>Birchler v. Castello Land Co.</b> 133 Wn.2d 106, 942 P.2d 968 (1997)8
<b>Broughton Lumber Co. BNSF Ry. Co.</b> 174 Wn.2D 619 278 P.3d 173 (2012)8
<b>Davis v. Dep't of Licensing</b> 137 Wn.2d 957, 977 P.2d 554 (1999)7
<i>Hill v. Cox</i> 110 Wn. App. 394, 41 P.3d 495 (2002)13
<b>State v. Bunker</b> 169 Wn.2d 571, 578, 238, P.3d 487 (2010)
State v. Evans 177 Wn.2d 186, 298 P.3d 724, 741 nn 1-2 (2013)13
State v. Gray 174 Wn.2d 920, 280, P.3d 1110 (2012)7
State v. Sweany 174 Wn.2d 909, 914-15, 281 P.3d 305 (2012)7
State v. Watson 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.2d 903 (2005)4
State v. Wright 84 Wn.2d 645, 652, 529 P.2d 453 (1974)8
Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty. V. Dep't of Ecology 178 Wn.2d 571, 582, 311 P.3d 6 (2013)8

## B. **STATUTES** RCW 4.24.630......1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11 C. **COURT RULES RAP RAP** D. **OTHER REFERENCES** Bassani Farms LLC v. Maddox N. 26177-8-III (Wn. Ap. 2009) cert denied Chen v. Thomas No. 29661-6-11 (Wn. App. 2004)......5 Panas v. Cullen No. 23632-3 III (Wn. App. 2006)......13 State Journal, 53rd Leg., Reg. Sess., 154 (Wash. 1994)......11 Structural Investments & Planning IV, LLC v. Schiller

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner is Robert Gunn

#### <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Gunn v. Riely, No. 45177-8-II. Filed on January 21, 2015.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Whether the legislature intended RCW 4.24.630 to expand the remedies for timber trespass in light of the first general provision of RCW 4.24.630 applies its remedies to "[e]very person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber.
- 2. Whether RCW 4.24.630 is the appropriate remedy where the wrongful act by Terry and Petra Riely ("Rielys) was the unauthorized opening of a road, causing damage to Gunn's land, and damage to his trees was merely incidental.

#### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

At Rielys direction a contractor trespassed onto Gunn's property for the purpose of opening a roadway they claimed a right to use. (CP 46). In opening what the Court of Appeals referred to as a "grassy path," Rielys' contractor cut down approximately 107 alder saplings, which had

a stipulated value of only \$153.00. The contractor cleared all other vegetation that covered their intended route. (CP 23).

Robert Gunn sued Rielys to enjoin them from using his property and claimed treble damages under either the timber trespass statute, RCW 64.12.030, or the damage to land statute, RCW 4.24.630.

The Trial Court found the clearing work damaged Gunn, including: (1) depriving him of the privacy provided by the trees, (2) loss of future income had the trees grown, (3) damage to the land, and (4) cleanup, investigative and survey costs. (CP 22, Findings of Fact 1.16; CP 31, Findings of Fact 2.24, 2.25, 2.28; CP 46-47).

In assessing damages the trial court applied RCW 4.24.630 rather than RCW 64.12.030. It did so based upon its determination that although Rielys removed trees from Gunn's land Rielys' intentional and unreasonable trespass primarily caused damage to Gunn in other ways that are properly compensable under RCW 4.24.630(1) and not compensable under RCW 64.12.030.

It therefore awarded Gunn a judgment pursuant to that statute in the amount of \$22,571.60 consisting of the following: \$1,359.00 (the value of the cut trees, \$153, trebled; the cost of restoration, \$300, trebled), investigative costs for the survey work (\$3,294), costs (\$418.60), and

attorney fees (\$17,500). (CP 21, CP 30, CP 46-47. Conclusion of Law 2.24; CP 26-31).

The Rielys moved for reconsideration which motion was denied.

The Court of Appeals, Division II, reversed the trial court concluding that because damages were awardable to Gunn under RCW 64.12.030 for cutting timber that RCW 4.24.630(2) precluded an award under RCW 4.24.630(1).

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Petition should be accepted for review because (1) the case presents issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court and (2) the Court of Appeal decision is in conflict with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(4) and RAP 13.4(b)(2). Significantly, this is the first opportunity for the Supreme Court to interpret and construe the aforementioned statutes together.

#### A. Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Intentional or reckless damage to real property and trees continues to be a widespread issue in this State. RCW 4.24.630 and RCW 64.12.030, which were intended to deal with these problems, have each figured in numerous cases presented to our State's trial courts, Court of Appeals, and this court. Indeed there are roughly 68 appellate cases discussing RCW 64.12.030 and 65 appellate cases discussing RCW

4.24.630. Approximately 10 of the above, all from the Court of Appeals, discuss both statues under varying factual circumstances.<sup>i</sup> The fact there have been a large number of cases before our courts involving these two potentially conflicting statutes establishes the public nature of the issue and the substantial public interest in it as presented by this petition. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.2d 903 (2005). Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals failed to recognize that its interpretation of the exception in RCW 4.24.630(2) directly conflicts with the general provisions of the statute, RCW 4.24.630(1) and with the court's own prior decision. This error underscores the importance of the public and the bar obtaining guidance from this Court as to the correct interpretation and application of these statutes, particularly where, as here, damage to both land and trees is involved.

The simple fact Landowners in Washington are faced with two statutes both providing treble damages for wrongful removal or damage to trees or timber. It is difficult to know which one, or both, should apply. In this case the Court of Appeals determined "If damages are provided for under the timber trespass statute, then the waste statute, RCW 4.24.630, does not apply." It did so despite conceding in a footnote that there may be circumstances when damage to trees or timber may be compensable

under this RCW 4.24.630(1). Just where is that line crossed? Without a decision from this Court, confusion is likely to remain.

# B. The Decision Conflicts with another Decision of the Court of Appeals.

Ten years prior to the instant case, another panel of Division II reached a contrary decision. In *Chen v. Thomas*, No. 29661-6-II (Wn. App. 2004), Division II<sup>ii</sup> of the Court of Appeals faced facts similar to the court here. There, Plaintiff's neighbors, the Thomases, apparently claiming an easement trespassed on to plaintiff's property to clear and "improve" a trail, causing damage to land and trees in the process. Noting that both statutes deal with damage or removal of trees the court held as follows:

We harmonize these two statutes. If the Thomases were correct, then the provision of RCW 4.24.630(1) referring to timber removal would be meaningless because it would always be actionable under RCW 64.12.030, and thus excluded. There are different elements in the two statutes, thus, application is different depending on which statute is addressed. The Chens proved every element of RCW 4.24.630(1). The trial court properly awarded treble damages, attorney fees and costs under RCW 4.24.630(1).

Like the Plaintiff's in *Chen*, Gunn proved all elements establishing liability under RCW 4.24.630(1) entitling him to be awarded treble damages, attorney fees and costs under that statute. However, the present Court of Appeal decision provides that RCW 64.12.030 trumps

RCW 4.24.630(1) just because trees were cut. The Court of Appeals ruling in this case conflicts with the same court's prior ruling in *Chen*. This Court should accept review and provide an authoritative interpretation of the statutes.

C. The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Concluded that RCW 4.24.630 (2) Precluded Damages, Costs and Attorneys Fee under RCW 4.24.630(1).

RCW 4.24.630: Liability for damage to land and property –Damages—Costs—Attorney's Fees—

Exceptions.

- (1) Every person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber, crops, minerals, or other valuable property from the land, or wrongfully causes waste or injury to the land, or wrongfully injures personal property improvements to real estate on the land, is liable to the injured party for treble the amount of the damages caused by the removal, waste, or injury. For purposes of this section, a person acts "wrongfully" if the person intentionally and unreasonably commits the acts while knowing, or having reason to know, that he or she lacks authorization to so act. Damages recoverable under this section include, but are not limited to, damages for the market value of the property removed or injured, and for the injury to the land, including costs of restoration. In addition, the person is liable for reimbursing the injured party for the party's reasonable costs, including but not limited to investigative costs and reasonable attorney's fees and other litigation costs.
- (2) This section does not apply in any case where liability for damages is provided under RCW 64.12.030, 79.01.756, 79.01.760, 79.40.070, or where there is immunity from liability under RCW 64.12.035. *(emphasis added)*

## RCW 64.12.030: Injury to or removing trees, etc. - Damages.

Whenever any person shall cut down, girdle, or otherwise injure, or carry off any tree, including Christmas tree as defined in \*RCW 76.48.020, timber, or shrub on the land of another person, or on the street or highway in front of any person's house, city, or town lot, or cultivated grounds, or on the commons or public grounds of any city or town, or on the street or highway in front thereof, without lawful authority, in an action by the person, city or town against the person committing the trespass or any of them, any judgment for the plaintiff shall be for the treble of the amount of damages claimed or assessed.

RCW 64.12.030 was first enacted in 1869. 1869 p 143 § 556. RCW 4.24.630 was enacted in 1994. 1994 c 280 § 1.

The primary goal in statutory interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the Legislature's intent. *State v. Gray*, 174 Wn.2d 920, 926, 280 P.3d 1110 (2012). Courts determine intent by first looking at the statutory language to ascertain its plain meaning. *State v. Sweany*, 174 Wn.2d 909, 914-15, 281 P.3d 305 (2012). "[A]n act must be construed as a whole, considering all provisions in relation to one another and harmonizing all rather than rendering any superfluous." *State v. Bunker*, 169 Wn.2d 571, 578, 238 P.3d 487 (2010); *Davis v. Dep't of Licensing*, 137 Wn.2d 957, 977 P.2d 554 (1999).

Application of the "plain meaning" rule has not been uniform. The Washington Supreme Court questioned whether interpretation of the

timber trespass statute, RCW 64.12.030, is subject to the "plain meaning" rule. *Broughton Lumber Co. BNSF Ry. Co.*, Wn.2d 619, 278 p.3d 173 (2012) (former version required using other rules of construction outside of the plain meaning rule). It found RCW 64.12.030 is not an exclusive remedy and does not bar recovery not already encompassed by the statutory liability. *Birchler v. Castello Land Co.*, 133 Wn.2d 106, 942 P.2d 968 (1997)(although it bars duplicative recovery).

Statutory exceptions must be narrowly construed in order to give effect to legislative intent underlying the general provisions. *See Swinomish Indian Tribal Cmty. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 178 Wn.2d 571, 582, 311 P.3d 6 (2013). Any doubt should be resolved in favor of the general provisions. *State v. Wright*, 84 Wn.2d 645, 652, 529 P.2d 453 (1974).

The Court of Appeals ruling contradicts principles of statutory interpretation by rendering the general provision "removes timber" superfluous. The Court of Appeals determined that the plain reading of RCW 4.24.630(2) precluded an award under .630(1) because trees were cut. However if this broad reading of the exception stands then the provision of RCW 4.24.630(1) referring to timber removal would be meaningless because it is always actionable under RCW 64.12.030, and thus excluded.

By definition "Every person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber" has committed timber trespass under RCW 64.12.030 ("Whenever any person shall cut down, girdle, or otherwise injure, or carry off any tree, ... timber, or shrub on the land of another person..."). Under the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the exception, the general provision, "[e]very person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber," would have no meaning, and would be superfluous because RCW 64.12.030 would also apply, triggering the exception and precluding any award under RCW 4.24.630(1).

Rather than endorse an interpretation that renders portions of the statute meaningless, this court should accept review and harmonize the provisions in a manner that gives effect to *all* of the language enacted by the legislature. *See State v. Bunker*, 169 Wn.2d at 578. This can be done by interpreting the exception narrowly to mean that the additional remedies of RCW 4.24.630 would apply generally to "[e]very person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber," *except to the extent that the statute duplicates remedies already available under RCW 64.12.030*. Duplicated remedies would only be available under RCW 64.12.030. Such an interpretation allows the exception to operate narrowly without rendering the general provisions meaningless. This harmonization would leave intact RCW 64.12.030 and its existing body of case law,

while still providing the additional remedies the legislature intended when it enacted RCW 4.24.630 with the words "removes timber."

The practical result of harmonizing the provisions of RCW 4.24.630 in this manner is that the market value of the trees will be determined and awarded under RCW 64.12.030, while damages for injury to the land and litigation costs (including investigative costs and reasonable attorney fees) will be determined and awarded under RCW 4.24.630. This harmonization gives meaning to all of the provisions of RCW 4.24.630, preserves existing timber trespass case law, prevents double recovery, and provides the additional remedies the legislature intended when it enacted RCW 4.24.630 with the language, "Every person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber."

Although the Court of Appeals, here, declined to harmonize, it appeared to recognize this possible harmonization when it cited legislative history to RCW 4.24.630 which indicated that damages to trees are appropriate under this law in certain, unspecified circumstances.

[T]he idea is to deal with the tremendous amount of damage that we are having with people coming in and shooting up signs, shooting up restrooms. In the case of forest lands, shooting up trees, taking four-wheel drives and running them all over [agricultural] land and ripping up the ground. You know a variety of things like that is really what we are getting after in this situation.

Senate Journal, 53<sup>rd</sup> Leg., Reg. Sess., at 154 (Wash. 1994). Therefore, it appears that there could be a situation, under circumstances of waste or vandalism, where a court may find that RCW 4.24.630 appropriately applies to a dispute over comprehensive property damage that includes damage to property and removal of timber, rather than a dispute where the sole issue is timber trespass. (Emphasis added)

The Court of Appeals ruling also indicated for RCW 4.24.630(1) to apply that waste to land must also be present. However, RCW 4.24.630(1) does not require waste. Waste is an alternative circumstance for the statutes application. The statute says "or" not "and."

The Court of Appeals ruling also ignores the suit was the result of Rielys intentional trespass onto Gunn's property to open a nonexistent road. This was not just a "timber trespass" case where only trees are taken. Gunn's action sought to bar Rielys' use of Gunn's property. (CP 150, Paragraphs 7.1, 7.2, 7.6, 7.7, and 7.8). The trial court found that Rielys' intentional act was not to cut trees, or timber trespass, but to open up a roadway that they had no right to use. This was the primary focus of the suit, not the cutting of the saplings. (CP 31, Conclusion of Law 2.25; CP 46-47).

The damages for the intentional trespass were of minimal value, with the majority being the survey costs to help disprove the easement claim. The trial court therefore ruled recovery under RCW 64.12.030

would not provide an adequate remedy to Gunn. (CP 31, Conclusions of Laws 2.24-26; CP 46-47).

The trial court properly held that RCW 4.24.630 was enacted to fill a void left by RCW 64.12.030 in that the latter statute left landowners like Gunn inadequately compensated. (CP 46). In this case where the trees cut were of minimal value and were cut for reasons other than traditional commercial harvesting, RCW 4.24.630 applied and provided the just compensation to the injured party. CP 46-47.

RCW 4.24.630(2) was inserted to prevent double recovery under both statues for tree damages. It does not mean if you have any tree damages you cannot seek other redress under RCW 4.24.630(1), including the cost of surveying and attorney's fees.

Robert Gunn proved each element under RCW 4.24.630(1) and the trial court appropriately awarded damages under that section.

#### CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with one of its prior decision and renders portion of a statute, RCW 4.24.630(1) meaningless. It also perpetuates confusion over which of the aforementioned statutes applies in cases such as this. Correcting the Court of Appeal's interpretation, resolving the conflict, and ending the confusion, is in the

public interest. This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals and reinstate the trail court judgment.