RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 18, 2015, 1:56 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 91317-0

(Court of Appeals No. 45177- 8- II)

ROBERT GUNN, a single man,

Petitioner,

v.

TERRY L. RIELY and PETRA E. RIELY, husband and wife,

Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

By: Curtis C

Curtis G. Johnson, WSBA #8675

Attorney for Respondents

230 E. 5th Street

Port Angeles, WA 98362 Telephone (360) 452-3895

e-mail: curtisjohnson@olympus.net

IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents are Terry Riely and Petra Riley, husband and wife.

II.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Gunn v. Riely, No. 45177-8-II. Filed on January 21, 2015.

III.

CONDITIONAL ISSUES RAISED IN SUPPORT OF REVERSAL BUT NOT DECIDED BY COURT OF APPEALS

- 1. Whether the affirmative defense of implied easement was established by the Rileys such that the mitigation effect of RCW 64.12.040 would be appropriate as single damages rather than treble damages under RCW 64.12.030?
- 2. Reconsideration of that portion of the Appellate Court's opinion that the Rielys did not properly present their request for Attorney fees on Appeal under RAP 18.1(b). The issue of damages under RCW 64.12.030 has been remanded to the trial court and has not yet been determined as to whether defendant's prevail through the use of RCW 4.84.250 concerning an offer of settlement of timber trespass damages and the shifting of costs under CR 68 if Gunn recovers less than the offer of settlement.

///

///

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF CASE

The Rielys hired a well driller to construct a well on their property. (CP-18). The well driller moved his equipment down an old logging road (referred to as "the grassy path") across neighboring land owned by Gunn to access the intended well site on the Riely property. (RP p. 99, ln. 17-25; RP p.100, ln. 1-7; RP p. 118, ln. 12-17). The well site was just below the intersection of the terminus of the adjoining parcels of land by the grassy path. Trial testimony from Gunn established that the grassy path was gradually being obscured by the natural growth of the foliage (RP p. 84, ln. 1-13; CP-12). The well driller cut down 107 alder saplings growing in or along the grassy path that obstructed movement of his equipment. (RP p. 107, In. 7-24; CP-Ex. 20). That action commenced the dispute between Gunn and the Rielys over the right to use the grassy path (an old logging road). (CP-146; CP-160). Gunn claimed treble damages to his land under either RCW 64.12.630 (timber trespass) or RCW 4.24.630 RCW 64.12.030 (damage to land). An expert witness determined the value of the loss of the trees to be \$153.00. (RP p. 107, ln. 7-24; CP-Ex. 20). At trial, Gunn was awarded treble damages, restoration costs, attorney fees and costs pursuant

to RCW 4.24.630 as a matter of law on trial judge's belief that the actions constituted an injury to land. (CP-15; CP-19). The trial court disregarded Riley's affirmative defense of implied easement and found that they "knowingly and willfully trespassed upon Gunn's land when the alder trees were cut. (CP-15; Finding of Fact 1.40; 1.41; 1.42 and 1.43).

IV.

ARGUMENT

1. No evidence of damage to the land thus the trial court erred in in awarding damages under RCW 4.2.630.

In this case, there was no evidence presented to the trial court by Mr. Gunn of any damage to the land (waste) apart from the cutting of the alder saplings along the grassy path (CP-19: Findings of Fact 1.24; 1.29; Conclusion of Law 2.28; CP-93 Exhibit 20). In cross-examination at trial, Mr. Gunn testified thusly:

Q: (By Mr. Johnson) Right. And the trees that were cut that were the basis of Tom Swanson's damage estimate were located along the grassy path, were they not?

A: Correct.1

Only alder saplings were cut. There was no other evidence of damage to the land that was established. On that basis, the Rielys asserted

¹ See RP p. 124, ln. 24-25; RP p. 125, ln. 1-2)

that RCW 64.12.030 controlled the issue of damages. In their answer to the complaint as an affirmative defense, the Rielys asserted an easement, albeit an "implied easement" as the underlying legal right to enter Gunn's property and use the grassy path despite the omission of an express easement in their property deed. The Rileys did not bring a quiet title action as a counterclaim. If the affirmative defense of implied easement was established, then they argued that they had a common law right of maintenance to keep the way open from foliage over-growth. This would bring into consideration the companion statute of RCW 64.12.040 for the determination single damages if the Riley's entry on the land was not "wrongful" but a matter of right.

Between the years of 2000-2009, the Rielys used the grassy path to access parts of their property. The Riely property was 10 acres with high bank and a ditch with no road access to the well site. The Rielys disputed Gunn's argument that they had no right to use the grassy path on his land. While there was no express easement due to the Storm King Large Lot Subdivision developer's error of omission in their deed to Gunn, the Rielys' contended that they had an implied easement for their use. The Riely's affirmative defense was based upon their belief that they held the easement from the parties common grantor, Joel Sisson, who with his partners established the Storm King Development. The trial court ruled that the

Rielys could prove the affirmative defense but could not bring a quiet title action. The appellate court mischaracterized the issue finding that the Riely's failed to plead a quiet title claim but did not rule on the presentation of the affirmative defense of easement. The trial court ruling that Riley were trespassers was error both factually and as a matter of law.

Division II of the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's conclusion of law that RCW 4.24.630 controlled. The Court of Appeals held that RCW 64.12.030 (timber trespass) applied due to the exclusionary language of RCW 4.24.630(2) since at trial only evidence of tree cutting was introduced but there was no other evidence of damage to the land, for example, structures, fences, forest land, farmland or to the road.

2. <u>Factors governing discretionary review are not established by</u> the required standards of RAP 13.4.

This case does not fit any of the categories for discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision defined by RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2). Contrary to Gunn's argument, the decision is not in conflict with the prior decisions of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals concerning timber trespass cases.

Gunn's attempt at a distinction between the two statutes, RCW 4.24.630 and RCW 64.12.030, are unwarranted since the words of the exception in RCW 4.24.630(2) are plain, simple and unambiguous and do

not require any form of statutory construction. See *State v. Sweet*, 138 Wn. 2d 466, 478, 980 P. 2d 1223(1999). Both statutes are penal in nature and are therefore subject to strict construction. *Jongeward v. BNSF Ry. Co.*, 174 Wn. 2d 586, 278 P. 3d 157 (2012). The legislative history surrounding the adoption of RCW 4.24.630 in 1994 does not indicate any intent in the modern statute that expresses any legislative intent to supersede or negate the application of the long-standing timber trespass statute contained in RCW 64.12.030. The companion provision of RCW 4.24.630(2) unambiguously refers to RCW 64.12.030 as coming within its ambit. Therefore the court must apply the statute as written. See also *HomeStreet v. Dept. of. Revenue*, 166 Wn. 2d. 444, 451-52, 210 P. 3d 297 (2009) which held that if the plain language of a statute is subject to only one interpretation, the court's inquiry ends because the plain language of the statute does not require construction.

Gunn has argued that the two statutes were alternative forms of relief, with RCW 4.24.630 available if a claimant was able to meet a heightened burden of proof concerning damage to the land. (CP-48; CP-95; CP-112). However, unlike cases involving sewage overflows that damaged the property owners (see *Bird v. Best Plumbing Group, LLC.*, 175 Wn. 2d 756, 287 P. 3d 551 (2012) and *Clipse v. Michels Pipeline Constr. Inc.*, 154

Wn. App. 573, 225 P. 3d 392 (2010), this action involved only the cutting of trees that did not cause further damages to the Gunn property.

Furthermore, interpreting the two statutes as "alternative" forms of relief renders the more restrictive and conservative statutory damages under RCW 64.12.030 completely meaningless, as no reasonable person would "choose" to utilize the statute that affords less relief for the same complaint.

The primary goal of statutory construction is to carry out legislative intent. *Cockle v. Dept. of Labor & Indust.*, 142 Wn. 2d 801, 807, 16 P. 3d. 583 (2001); *City of Walla Walla v. Topal*, 104 Wn. App. 816, 819, 17 P. 3d 1244 (2001). The actions of the Rileys involved the cutting of the alder saplings on the Gunn property. They are therefore encompassed by the timber trespass statute (RCW 64.12.030) and as such come within the exclusionary section of RCW 4.24.630(2). Therefore, applying RCW 4.24.630(1) as the trial court did. rendered the exception of RCW 4.24.630(2) meaningless. Courts will not interpret statutes in a manner that renders portions of them meaningless. *Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham*, 128 Wn. 2d 537, 546, 909 P. 2d 1303 (1996).

There are no reported cases where Washington courts have applied RCW 4.24.630 to timber trespasses where only damages to trees/shrubs was established by evidence. No other damage to land, such as any structures.

fences, crops or minerals was involved in the current action. The damage claim was based on the cutting of the alder saplings or other foliage in or along the grassy path. Therefore discretionary review by the Supreme Court should be denied.

There are no published cases that are in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this matter. Gunn alludes to several unpublished cases as being in conflict, however RCW 2.06.040 explicitly states that decisions not having precedential value shall not be published. GR 14.1 states that "A party may not cite as an authority an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals." The policy surrounding this is that the appellate courts have held that "No matter how well reasoned, unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals lack precedential value in part because they merely restate well-established principles". *State v. Nysta*, 168 Wn. App. 30, 275 P. 3d 1162 (2012): *Johnson v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 126 Wn. App. 510, 108 P. 3d 1273 (2005).

In the published cases over the last fifteen years in which RCW 4.24.630(1) has been applied to award damages, the cutting of timber or trees has been absent as a factor for application of that statute.

Bird v. Best Plumbing Group, LLC, 175 Wn. 2d. 756, 287 P. 3d 551 (2012) involved an action where Best Plumbing employee without

Plaintiff's consent, went onto Bird's property and cut Bird's pressurized sewage line in three places. Over the next few months sewage continued to escape the line and according to the Plaintiff this sewage flow caused hillside instability and extensive damage to his residence. Best Plumbing admitted that its employee went onto Bird's property without permission. At a reasonableness hearing involving the defendant's insurer, the trial court found that Bird's damage claim was 100% and that Best Plumbing was liable.

In *Standing Rock Homeowners Ass'n v. Misich*, 106 Wn. App. 231, 23 P. 3d 520 (2001), the plaintiff, an association of property owners in a real property development, had placed a number of gates on an easement passing through its property to deter trespass and vandalism. The defendant holder of the easement repeatedly entered onto the Standing Rock land and destroyed the gates. The court held that the gates were reasonable burdens on the easement and that the defendant holder of the easement was liable for all damages under RCW 4.24.630(1) caused by his actions.

In *Clipse v. Michels Pipeline Constr., Inc.*, 154 Wn. App. 573, 225 P. 3d 492 (2010), a subcontractor committed a statutory trespass under RCW 4.24.630 by entering property without permission to perform sewer work on a county building project. A back up of sewage or wastewater caused damage to the plaintiff's real property. On appeal, the case was

remanded back to the trial court following the holding that RCW 4.24.630(1) requires a showing that the defendant acted intentionally and unreasonably committed one or more acts and knew or had reason to know that he or she lacked authorization.

In *Colwell v. Etzell*, 119 Wn. App. 432, 81 P. 3d 895 (2003), a landowner took steps to remedy the increasing damage to his land caused by a runoff of water from an uphill adjacent parcel by installing culverts and ditches. A neighbor, who possessed an easement for passage over the land, sued for damages under the theory that the owner had damaged the neighbor's interest in the easement. The appellate court reversed the award of damages, finding that there had been no trespass.

To adopt Gunn's argument would require the Supreme Court to overturn the myriad cases decided in the past 142 years construing RCW 64.12.030 governing a direct trespass against the plaintiff's timber, trees or shrubs. See for instance *Birchler v. Costello* 133 Wn.2d 106, 942 P. 2d 968 (1997); *Guay v. Wash. Nat. Gas*, 62 Wn. 2d 473, 383 P. 2d 296 (1963); *Mullally v. Parks*, 29 Wn. 2d 899, 190 P. 2d 107 (1948); *Gardner v. Lovegren*, 27 Wash. 356, 67 P. 615 (1902).

3. The affirmative defense of implied easement affects the application of RCW 64.12.030 and/or RCW 64.12.040 such that maintenance of the easement should not have been considered wrongful or trespassing.

The appellate court decision remanded to the trial court for the determination of damages under RCW 64.12.030. However, the appellate court did not consider the application of the companion statute of RCW 64.12.040 if the burden of proof on the affirmative defense of implied easement was met by the Rielys. The Rielys argued that issue both at trial and on appeal. An easement is a non-possessory interest in the land of another---either express or implied. See Butler v. Craft Eng. Contr. Co., 67 Wn. App. 684, 697, 843 P.2d 1071 (1992); Richardson v. Cox, 108 Wn. App. 881, 26 P.3d 970 (2001). By its very nature an easement is a burden on the land of another and gives the dominant tenement the right to use the land of another (usually for ingress and egress along a designate route). The trial court allowed the Rielys to present evidence supporting their implied easement defense but then made a determination that they were trespassers. The evidence showed the grassy path had been used historically to access the property before the land was subdivided into neighboring 10 acre parcels. However, the trial court failed to recognize that evidence and testimony from the witnesses was legally sufficient to establish the affirmative defense of implied easement. On that basis it was Riely's contention that their use and actions on the grassy path were not wrongful. If that is true, the treble damages that are authorized under RCW 64.12.030

may not be warranted and the companion statute of RCW 64.12.040 may control the determination of single value of damages to the trees cut.

Division II of the Court of Appeals has mischaracterized and misinterpreted this argument. The issue is not hypothetical---if the Rielys proved their affirmative defense of implied easement, there could be no trespass for cutting in the easement based on an underlying common law right of use and maintenance of easements. *Dreger v. Sullivan*, 46 Wn. 2d 36, 278 P. 2d 647 (1955); *Hughes v. Boyer*, 5 Wn. 2d 81, 90, 104 P.2d 760 (1940)

4. Attorney Fees and Cost Shifting at Trial and on Appeal should abide the application of RCW 4.84.250 and CR 68.

Prior to the trial of this action, the Rielys has submitted an offer of settlement (CR-13) pursuant to RCW 4.84.250 and an Offer of Judgment (CP-11) to resolve the damage claims of Mr. Gunn. The request for an award of attorney fees in this case was set forth and briefed at the appellate court level. The award to attorney fees in cases under \$10,000 are dependent upon compliance with RCW 4.84.250. This in turn is dependent on the trial court's determination of damages following remand and a determination of damages under either RCW 64.12.030 or RCW 64.12.040. The latter statute provides for single damages if the actor proves probable cause to believe land was his or her own. The damages that may be found

by the trial court on remand may cause a shifting under RCW 4.84.250. The Rielys followed the required procedure under RCW 4.84.250 and CR 68. Whether either RCW 4.84.270 or CR 68 has any application to this case involves factors that the trial court has not yet determined. Attorney fees were raised as an issue and briefed in the appeal to Division II of the Court of Appeals submitted by the Rielys. Any award of attorney fees should abide by the result at trial on the remand of the damage determination to determine the prevailing party. *Eagle Point Condo v. Coy*, 102 Wn. App. 697 (2000) held that where a statute authorizes attorney fees to the prevailing party at trial, they are also available on appeal.

V.

CONCLUSION

RCW 4.24.630(2) specifically precludes the application of section (1) in any case where RCW 64.12.030 provides for damages. The trial court should not have applied RCW 4.24.630 because the statute does not allow for certain damages when RCW 64.12.030 applies. The actions and conduct of the Rileys are encompassed by RCW 64.12.030. The loss that Gunn suffered was as a result of the cutting down of trees, and it is for the value of those trees that damages would be awarded and trebled under RCW 64.12.030 (timber trespass). However, single damages would be potentially available if the companion statute of RCW 64.12.040 applied if the Rielys'

prevailed on their affirmative defense of implied easement since the trees removed were natural growth in or along the grassy path.

If, on remand, the trial court awards damages equal to or less than that offered by the Rielys in their offer of settlement based on RCW 4.84.250, then the Rileys should be deemed the prevailing party and entitled to an award of reasonable attorney fees at trial and on appeal plus the shifting of costs under CR 68 as an offer of judgment was also submitted. The Supreme Court should direct the trial court following remand to include in its amended judgment an amount awarded for recoverable fees on appeal if the damages are less than that offered by the Rielys for settlement and judgment.